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The Uses of Law and the Gaspee Affair

he Gaspee affair has become a familiar marker along the path that led to

the War of American Independence. Burned to the waterline before dawn
on 10 June 1772, apparently by unidentified boarders who also manhandled
the crew and reputedly shot its commander, the Gaspee took on a symbolic
importance that extended far beyond the events of the moment. The HMS
Gaspee, after all, was a Royal Navy schooner stationed in Rhode Island waters
to catch smugglers; an attack on it was an assault on the flag and therefore
treason against the king.

Although the Gaspee affair is still overshadowed in popular memory by the
Boston Tea Party, most historians of the American Revolution give it a promi-
nent place in their narratives. True, the Tea Party led to the much-resented
“Coercive Acts,” which in turn led to the First Continental Congress and,
more indirectly, to the bloodletting at Lexington and Concord. But the
Gaspee's destruction had already brought a royal commission of inquiry that
prompted the forming of intercolonial committees of correspondence. Even
more important, the fate of the Gaspee, perhaps better than the Tea Party,
reflected basic, intractable problems of empire, especially confusion over

the extent of local autonomy and limits to imperial authority.'

The Gaspee affair pitted local “whig” law against an expanding conception

of imperial purview: future revolutionaries against future loyalists and their
British allies.’ It showed that law alone cannot retic broken social bonds, Law,
or at least law as it was interpreted by local and imperial authorities, confused
rather than clarified issues in the Gaspee affair. Furthermore, lacunae in the sur-
viving record should warn us agamnst using old narrative forms to explain what
happened.’ Quite frankly, given the fragmentary and inconclusive evidence,

we still do not know what transpired on the Gaspee before fire consumed it.

For those who believe in destiny, the fate of the Gaspee was sealed from

the moment it arrived in Narragansett Bay. Rhode Island had a long-standing
reputation as a smugglers’ den, and the bay, with its islands, inlets, and pas-
sageways, was a natural haven for illicit trade. The colony’s sixty thousand or
so inhabitants were scattered along the mainland shores of the bay as well as
on its islands. Providence had just over four thousand residents, while Newport
boasted a population twice as large.* Both towns were dominated, socially and
politically, by merchants, and a fair number of them—including the wealthy
Browns of Providence—were not above smuggling. Rhode Island in general
was under the sway of men like the Browns and their associates; they amassed
the largest fortunes and either held the highest offices or were allied by kinship
and interest to those who did.*

Beginning in the middle 1760s, imperial authorities endeavored to reduce
smuggling in Rhode Island and elsewhere in the colonies. Smuggling had
become embarrassingly widespread during the French and Indian War, even
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between colonial Americans and their ostensible French enemies in Canada
and the West Indies. Vice-admiralty courts had been operating in British North
America for three-quarters of a century; new parliamentary legislation in 1767
expanded their range of authority.” The extended reach of these courts further
threatened the dominion of local common-law courts, which used juries to
decide cases—unlike the vice-admiralty courts, whose royally appointed judges
decided cases themselves. The Royal Navy, with more ships in American
waters than in former years, was expected to assist the vice-admiralty judges
and customs inspectors who patrolled on shore. As an incentive to diligence,
all could profit from any resulting confiscations: it quite literally paid to catch
smugglers. By the time that the Gaspee arrived in 1772, Royal Navy vessels
and cutters licensed by customs had been plying Narragansett Bay regularly
for some eight years.

The factions that dominated Rhode Island politics closed ranks in opposing
tighter enforcement of the navigation system. Local authorities did not help
imperial ofticials do their jobs; even John Andrews, a Rhode Islander who had
been appointed the first resident vice-admiralty judge for his colony in 1758,
did not let a royal appointment get in the way of his provincial allegiance: few
convictions came from his bench. Rhode Islanders had lost their fight to keep
vice-admiralty courts out of the colony when it was brought within the jurisdic-
tion of the Boston court in 1704. They could take solace that Andrews, at least,
was one of their own. Paradoxically enough, Andrews may have reinforced the
tendency of Rhode Islanders to see themselves as beyond the reach of imperial
law because, with his appointment, imperial law had been localized.

There were numerous confrontations between local residents and imperial
authorities before the Gaspee arrived in Rhode Island. In 1771 customs
collector Charles Dudley was beaten as he boarded a vessel in Newport, and

he subsequently complained to the British secretary of state for American affairs
the earl of Hillsborough. Looking for an excuse to vent his own frustrations,
Hillsborough notified Governor Joseph Wanton that he had received many
criticisms about “the neglect of the governors and civil magistrates, in giving
their assistance and protection” to members of customs. He added, pointedly,
“that some of the most violent of these outrages have been committed at New-
port, Rhode Island.” Scarcely disguising his wish to stand Rhode Island on its
figurative head, he declared that “any further exhortation” @n the subject
would be useless; Wanton and other leaders of the colony should worry what
the “consequences” would be if the “laws of the kingdom are suffered to be
trampled upon.”’

»

Wanton's response marked the chasm separating him from Hillsborough

and anticipated by a year the rift between the governor and Admiral John
Montagu over the status of the Gaspee, Acting with the permission—even at
the direction—of the powerful General Assembly, Wanton disputed Dudley’s
charge. He countered that Dudley may have been exceeding his authority and
that if he was attacked, it was by drunken sailors, not by the good citizens of
Newport. Wanton had been a customs collector in Newport earlier in his career
and had been set upon at least once by a crowd for trying to seize a cargo, but
he had left those years behind. Well into his sixties when he became governor
in 1769, he was a prominent merchant and probably a smuggler to boot. His
father had sat as governor; so had an uncle and a cousin. Hardly intimidated
by Hillsborough and uninterested in courting his favor, Wanton registered a
complaint of his own:
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And now My Lord, permit me, in turn, to complain of the officers of His
Majesty's customs in America, for the abusing and misrepresenting the colony
of Rhode Island and its officers; for how unkind and ungentlemanly-like, is it
tor officers, sent abroad by the crown, to reside m the colonies, by every means
in their power, to traduce and even falsely accuse His Majesty's faithful subjects
ol the colony, to their sovereign and his ministers of state.®

Hillsborough and Wanton were nibbling at the edges of a jurisdictional dispute.
As tar as Rhode Island’s leaders were concerned, anything that occurred within
the borders of the colony—an area that included the waters of Narragansett
Bay—was a provincial matter under the jurisdiction of local law. The Rhode
Island General Assembly had said as much in the midst of the Stamp Act
crisis when, imitating the Virginia House of Burgesses, it resolved

THAT HIS Majesty’s liege People of this Colony have enjoyed the Right of

being governed by their own Assembly in the Article of Taxes, and internal

Police; and that the same hath never been forfeited, or any other way yielded

up, but hath been constantly recognized by the King and People of Britain.”
Rhode Island officials enjoyed virtual autonomy in local matters, but neither
Crown nor Parliament had intended to exclude impenal authonty. By charter,
Rhode Island was expected to uphold English law, including the Navigation
Acts. In practice, except for the years under the Dominion of New England,
Rhode Islanders before the 1760s had by and large been left alone to enforce
local legislation as well as acts passed by the British Parliament and applied
to them.

The language of the 1663 charter was vague. Under it the General Assembly
was enjoined from passing legislation inimical to the laws of England. Yet the
charter stated ambiguously that Rhode Island’s laws should “be not contrary
and repugnant unto, but, as near as may be, agreeable to the laws of this our
Realm of England.” Did that mean the stipulation was not binding? Rhode
Island did not routinely send its laws to London for review, so the matter was
never clarified.'"” Moreover, Rhode Islanders elected all of their own officials,
from the governor on down, and through the General Assembly they were
empowered to set up their own courts. Those courts had authority over “all
Actions, Cases, Matters, and Things, happening within the said Colony and
Plantation.”!"" A rather extensive grant of autonomy, this, a concession to the
unavoidable need for local law enforcement. And as legal scholars have shown,
colonial Americans in general—not just Rhode Islanders—came to see the
custom of local enforcement as a constitutional right, unalttrablc except
with their consent. "

The Gaspee had been built as a sloop. By the ume Lieutenant William Dudings-
ton assumed command in 1768, a second mast had been added and the vessel
had been rerigged as a schooner. Just under fifty feet long, the Gaspee carried
eight small guns and a crew of twenty or so men. Before Dudingston took up his
station in Rhode Island, he had patrolled the Delaware River and, after that, the
waters in the vicinity of Martha's Vineyard. He managed to offend local residents
both in Pennsylvania and on the Vineyard through his aggressive acts and bom-
bastic talk. Assigned to Narragansett Bay in March 1772, he wasted no time in
alienating Rhode Islanders as well by stopping, searching, and occasionally
seizing vessels.

According to Deputy Governor Darius Sessions, many residents had been
“disquieted” by the schooner’s commander. Writing from Providence, Sessions
informed Governor Wanton, in Newport, of the widespread distress caused by
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the Gaspee's presence. Sessions told Wanton that he had consulted with the
chief justice for the province, Stephen Hopkins, who advised him “that no
commander of any vessel has any right to use any authority in the body of the
colony, without previously applying to the Governor, and showing his warrant
for so doing.”"* After reading Sessions’s letter, Wanton dispatched an informal
summons, carried by a shenff, to Dudingston. In it Wanton told Dudingston to
wait on him “without delay” and bring along any authorization he might have
from the customs commission empowering him to operate in Rhode Island
waters. Dudingston penned a response and entrusted it to one of his men.

He reminded Wanton that they had met, that the governor had not asked to
see his orders or authorization then, and that in any case as a Royal Navy
officer he was not obliged to show Wanton anything."*

Not surpnisingly, Wanton was offended by Dudingston’s terse response.

In a second note he told Dudingston that he was not satisfied and that he

still expected to see the lieutenant’s commission. Dudingston sent Wanton's
summonses, along with his own explanation, on to his commander in chief,
Admiral John Montagu, in Boston. He told Montagu that he had shown Wanton
his “orders from the Admiralty and your first order to put myself under your
command and a deputation from the Commissioners of Custom,” but not any
specific orders from Montagu. He had thus been conscientious and, he added,
cautious, for he had heard that there were those in Newport who “talked of
fitting and arming a vessel to prevent my carrying any seizure to Boston.” He
claimed that writs were being prepared against him, that he could not safely
send a boat ashore, and that “every invention of infamous lies calculated to
inflame the country is put in the newspapers.”'

Dudingston no doubt phrased his letter very carefully in writing to Montagu,
who would brook no interference by local authorities in naval affairs. Had the
lieutenant shown Wanton his orders and had Wanton forgotten? Had he not
but thought he did? Or did he lie to Montagu in order to get the admiral pro-
voked at Wanton? We do not know,

As Dudingston probably hoped, Montagu fired off a very curt note to Wanton,
telling him he was ashamed of the way Dudingston had been treated. “It is your
duty, as a governor,” lectured the admiral, “to give him your assistance, and not
endeavor to distress the King's officers for strictly complying with my orders.”
Furthermore, he warned, if Dudingston or any other naval d¥icers suffered “any
molestation in the execution of their duty,” those guilty of such acts should

be sent to him in Boston. Dudingston had told him there were plans afoot in
Newport to outfit a vessel to interfere with the Gaspee; if such a move were
made, rumbled Montagu, he would take those involved and “hang them as
pirates.”'® To this communication Wanton replied, icily, that Dudingston had
not shown him “any orders from the admiralty or from you,” and “as to your
attempt to point out what was my duty as Governor, please to be informed,
that I do not receive instructions for the administration of my government,
from the King's admiral, stationed in America.”"”

In effect, neither man accepted the authority of the other, and each was
convinced that the law was on his side. Montagu had nothing but disdain for
Wanton's use of a sheriff to summon Dudingston. “1 would advise you not to
send your sheriff on board the King’s ship again, on such ridiculous errands,”
chided the admiral; to which Wanton retorted, “I will send the sheriff of this
colony at any time, and to any place, within the body of it, as I shall think fit.”"®
Wanton undoubtedly felt personally aftronted, but he also believed that his
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legal status as governor—not just his personal honor—had been impugned.
When he duly reported his dealings with Dudingston and Montagu to the earl
of Hillsborough, he emphasized the legal correctness of his stand. He had acted,
he stressed, because “gentlemen of established character, and whose loyalty to
their sovereign is not to be questioned,” had complained that a schooner with
no clear authority had been harassing merchant vessels “within the body of the
colony.” At their request he had pursued the matter “as was consistent with
law.” Wanton told Hillsborough he was still not convinced that Dudingston had
any right to act “before he communicated to me, or some proper authority, his
commission for so doing.”'"” The governor insisted on this point, knowing full
well Montagu's differing opinion and that of the secretary himself, who had
shown his concurrence with the admiral’s view in his letter to Wanton in
connection with the Dudley incident the preceding year.

Equally as important, Wanton hotly denied that the people of Newport were
arming a schooner to attack the Gaspee; any claim that they were was “a mali-
cious misrepresentation.”” It is most unlikely that Wanton was being coy here,
although—true enough—when the Gaspee was later boarded, the icident took
place twenty miles up the bay from Newport and involved men not from New-
port but from the Providence area. Yet, even if Wanton did not know of any
plans or if, in fact, there were no plans at this date to take action against the
Gaspee, Wanton's feelings were probably common knowledge. The governor
had assured Hillshorough that he would assist the “king’s officers” in the “legal
discharge of their trust”; apparently he distinguished acts by imperial agents that
required his support from those that did not. As Wanton saw it, Dudingston was
operating beyond the navy’s purview; not only was he outside the protection of
Rhode Island law but he had actually violated it. Thart, and the knowledge that
Wanton was supported by his deputy governor and by the province’s chief
justice, may have emboldened those who eventually did board the Gaspee.
Indeed, without that knowledge they may not have made the attempt.

The Gaspee was not the only warship on patrol in Rhode Island waters; the
frigate Lizard and the sloop Beaver also sailed Narragansett Bay. On the moming
of 9 June 1772 all three vessels were in the south bay, with the Gaspee anchored
off Newport. The Gaspee set off alone to the north, headed toward Providence,
Perhaps because there was no pilot on board and Dudingston was venturing into
the unfamiliar Providence River, the vessel ran aground fivé miles below Provi-
dence on Namquit Point sometime around mid-afternoon. Dudingston decided
there was nothing he could do until early the next morning, when the stranded
schooner might be lifted off by high tide. That evening he posted a guard before
he and the rest of the crew went below. Not long after midnight the sentry (or
sentries) on deck heard and then saw in the darkness a number of approaching
rowboats. He |or they) hailed the boats and urged Dudingston to come up. Once
topside, Dudingston too called out, then advised whoever was coming near to
stay clear and not attempt to board. The boats continued to close on the Gaspee
as words were shouted back at Dudingston. Dudingston had ordered the crew to
arm themselves, and shots were fired from the Gaspee at the boats; at least one
shot was fired from the boats in reply. During this exchange Dudingston was
wounded. Men from the boats clambered aboard the schooner and chased the
Gaspee's crew below; then, one by one, the crew was brought back on deck,
bound, and rowed ashore near Pawtuxet. Just before dawn a few of the marooned
sailors, now well over a mile away from Namquit Point, saw that the Gaspee
was afire, and they watched as it continued buming to the waterline !
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“The Burning of the Gaspee.” O1l painting Word of the Gaspee's destruction spread quickly. Later on the morning of 10

i_‘;" :}—fﬁ_’”‘l"" _‘:“:"’J"f{' ‘?“_;‘f’”"”' 189, RIS June, Deputy Governor Darius Sessions, accompanied by vice-admiralty judge

RS RES John Andrews, turned up at the Pawtuxet house where Dudingston and some
of his crew had been left. Sessions wanted to interview Dudingston. Wounded,
embarrassed, not knowing which, if any, local officials to trust, and anticipating
a court martial where he would have to explain himself, Dudingston demurred.,
With his grudging permission Sessions talked to others from the Gaspee assem-
bled there. Sessions went so far as to take depositions from three of the crew,
None of them could identify the boarders. Sessions reported what he had
learned to Wanton in a letter the next day, and that was not much: the Gaspee
had been boarded, its commander had been shot, he and his crew had been
dumped on shore, the schooner had burned, and none of the boarders had
been identified—no names, no physical descriptions.”

The General Assembly was not in session at the moment, so Wanton, after
consulting with members of his council, 1ssued a proclamation on 12 June
“strictly charging and commanding all His Majesty’s officers” in the colony
“to exert themselves with the utmost vigilance, to discover and apprehend the
persons guilty” of this “atrocious crime, that they might be brought to condign
punishment.”* He offered a reward of one hundred pounds for information
leading to a conviction.

Wanton then notified Hillsborough of the “unwarrantable transaction,” assur-
ing the secretary that “the conduct of those who committed this outrage” was
“universally condemned” and that, quoting his own proclamation, the “utmost
vigilance” would be used to bring the perpetrators to justice. Yet he also
wrote—at even greater length—that the people of Rhode Island had been “in-
sulted without any just cause” and that their trade had been interrupted in an
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“oppressive manner” before this incident. Wanton’s message clearly implied that
the incident would not have happened if “those officers who have been sent into
this colony” had behaved with “prudence and discretion.”*

From the tone of Wanton's report Hillsborough may have concluded, quite
rightly, that the governor was not all that interested in uncovering what had
happened to the Gaspee. Hillsborough, Lord North, and other members of the
ministry were appalled, as was George II1. Hillsborough soon after left office
and the more moderate earl of Dartmouth replaced him; but Dartmouth too
was distressed, and he concurred in the appointment of a royal commission of
inquiry to investigate the affair, The commissioners were instructed to gather
evidence and see to it that those formally accused were sent to England, possibly
to be tried there for committing “High Treason” by “levying war against His
Majesty.”* Attorney General Alexander Wedderburn, who with Solicitor Gen-
eral Edward Thurlow had recommended that the assault be considered treason-
ous, thought the Gaspee business “five times the magnitude of the Stamp Act”
disturbances.* Accordingly, the king approved a much more substantial reward
than that offered by Governor Wanton: five hundred pounds for anyone giving
evidence leading to a conviction; one thousand pounds and a pardon to any
participant who would identify the ringleaders (and who had not been the

one to shoot Dudingston).

Rhode Islanders reacted hostilely to the appointment of a royal commission
and the planned trial of the accused in England. Writing to the Newport
Mercury, “Americanus” scorned the commission as a “star chamber,” a

“court of inquisition” dangerously “vested with the most exorbitant and
unconstitutional power.”?” Dire warnings printed in the Providence Gazette
and Newport Mercury tumed up in other colonial newspapers as well. Belying
the claim to objectivity printed on its masthead—"Open to ALL PARTIES but
influenced by NONE”—William Rind's Virginia Gazette was notable for its
pro-Rhode Island sympathies. Another Virginia paper reprinted a piece from the
Providence Gazette that characterized the boarding of the Gaspee as merely an
“unhappy Scheme”; Dudingston, the author complained, had previously treated
Governor Wanton “with great indignity,” and his behavior while on patrol
“was so piratical and provoking that Englishmen could not patiently bear it.”
The commissioners were implored not “to make any Concession in Submission
whereby a Precedent shall be introduced and established which may be fatal to
the Freedom of their own Constitution and the Liberties of America.”** Virginia
in fact became so agitated over the affair that leading burgesses called for the
forming of intercolonial committees of correspondence. By the end of the year
ten colonies had such committees in place.

As it turned out, Rhode Islanders and Virginians need not have worried. The
commissioners convened in Newport on 4 January 1773, adjourned after less
than three weeks, then reconvened on 1 June and submitted a final report on
22 June, all without identifying a single soul that could be brought to trial.
No one would be formally accused, much less sent to England. Whoever had
been among the boarders of the Gaspee could breathe easier after 22 June.
Thus ended the “time of terror.”*

The commissioners were probably foredoomed to fail. Part of the problem lay
in the composition of the commission 1tself. The five men appointed were
Robert Auchmuty, a vice-admiralty justice in Boston; Peter Oliver, chief

justice of Massachusetts; Frederick Smyth, chief justice of New Jersey; Daniel
Horsmanden, chief justice of New York; and Governor Wanton of Rhode Island.
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No doubt the North ministry moved cautiously before making its choices, and
yet the choices it made showed the impossibility of the situation. The first four
commissioners could be trusted as faithful adherents of empire, but, especially
in the case of the three chief justices, these men were also attached to the law.
Officially they were directed to identify suspects and bring them to justice on
the basis of legal evidence, not political retribution. If the ministry had other
expectations, it did not say so.

Wanton's inclusion may have been a political necessity, and yet the commission
had been formed in the first place because Hillsborough and his colleagues did
not trust the governor to carry through with an investigation. They likewise
probably did not trust the General Assembly, the courts, or the local grand juries.
Nonetheless the commissioners were told to work closely with Rhode Islanders
because “the civil magistrates and officers” were “entrusted with the power

and authority to arrest and commit to custody” those who were accused.”

The commissioners could find suspects, and those suspects, once formally ac-
cused, could be put in the custody of Admiral Montagu in Boston for passage

to England. Still it was up to local authorities to actually arrest the suspects,
and they could do so only after indictments were handed down by a Rhode
Island court or grand jury. How likely were such indictments and arrests? In
1765 the Assembly had claimed the constitutional right to police Rhode Island;
four years later it voted that all trials for crimes committed in the colony should
be held there. In both instances it could contend that it only asserted rights first
guaranteed by the 1663 charter and claimed by the General Assembly that same
year. Therefore neither Wanton nor the General Assembly could be expected

to accept a change in venue. Chief Justice Hopkins, when empowered by the
Assembly to use his discretion in the matter, reportedly proclaimed that “for
the purpose of Transportation for Trial . . . he would neither apprehend by his
own Order nor suffer any executive Officer in the colony to do it.”"

The commission’s deliberations had been preceded by a court martial held in
October 1772 on a warship in Portsmouth harbor, England. Testifying before
a panel of nine captains, Dudingston and five of his crew gave their version of
events. Although there were some differences in their accounts, they agreed
that before the Gaspee ran aground it had been sailing to Providence to pick
up crew members returning from Boston, where they had taken a prize ship;
that the approaching boats had been warned off repeatedly, but the men on
them boarded the Gaspee anyway; that under Dudingston’s orders the sailors
had armed themselves and fired at the boats, after which shots were returned;
that Dudingston was wounded during the exchange of fire; that they had been
put ashore and later saw the Gaspee aflame; and finally, according to Dudingston
and his midshipman, William Dickinson, that one of the two leaders had been
called the sheriff. During Dickinson’s testimony, when the midshipman was
asked if any of the boarders had been wounded, Dudingston “acquainted the
Court that he was informed that one of the People in the Boats was privately
buried ashore.”

When asked, Dudingston defended the actions of his crew; for their part the
crew concurred that Dudingston had done his “utmost.” Captain Linzee of the
Beaver appeared briefly to corroborate Dudingston’s claim that he had no reason
to suspect his ship would be attacked. All were found blameless and the court
martial proceedings were closed.” Dudingston’s career was not ruined by the
Gaspee affair; on the contrary, Dudingston was soon after promoted to captain
and ended his days as a rear admiral.
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Dudingston was not required to return to Rhode Island and give evidence before
the royal commission, despite the commission’s having requested that he do so.
The lords of the Admiralty determined that a personal appearance was unneces-
sary. Dudingston’s testimony before the court martial had been substantially
the same as his written report to Admiral Montagu on 12 June, a copy of

which the commission possessed. Dickinson and one of the other four crew-
men were sent to testify, but that is all. The Admiralty had not even assembled
the full Gaspee crew for the court martial or made any effort to gather detailed
information for the commissioners’ use. Either the Admiralty preferred that this
embarrassing matter be forgotten quickly or it underestimated how tenacious
Rhode Islanders would be in obstructing the commission’s way.

Dickinson and seaman Bartholomew Cheever appeared before the commission-
ers on 1 June 1773. They told basically the same story that they had related in
Portsmouth, this time in more detail. Cheever again averred that he could not
name any of the boarders, but that those “who acted as principals were called
the head sheriff and the captain; and one of them was called constable.” He
claimed that he had seen two of the boarders in Pawtuxet sometime afterward.
Dickinson provided a description of the “captain” and the “sheriff”: the former
“was a well set man, of swarthy complexion, full face, hoarse voice, and wore a
white cap, and appeared rather above the common rank of mankind”; the latter
“was a tall genteel man, dressed in blue clothes, his hair tied behind, and had
on a ruffle shirt.”*

Dudingston had noted in his 12 June report to Montagu that those he had
seen most closely “appeared to be merchants and masters of vessels” and
“were in every respect armed, and commanded with regularity, by one who
personated the sheriff.”* This had been a vague description at best; now, a
year later, Dickinson was far more precise. Here was specific testimony the
commission could use! Or could it? Dickinson, apparently separated from the
rest of the crew after being put ashore from the Gaspee, had made his way to
Boston and had actually recited his first description to Admural Montagu on 11
June, the day after the incident. Dickinson’s testimony that there had been a
head sheriff and a captain imvolved was reflected in the royal proclamation of
26 August calling for witnesses to come forward and identify them. Montagu
had also sent a copy of Dickinson’s statement to Governor Wanton. Wanton
had responded the next day by sending Montagu the depositions taken by
Darius Sessions and by pointing out that “you will perceive that there is a
material difference between them and the account” given by Dickinson.*
Dickinson had been more vague in that first account, mentioning “two
ring-leaders” and the presumed presence of a “head shenff” and a “captain.”
He had given no physical descriptions, As a member of the commission before
which Dickinson appeared the following June, Wanton could well have dis-
missed Dickinson’s more elaborate version as confused or perhaps even tainted.

Indeed, both sides may have been guilty of trying to manipulate the evidence.
This was especially so in the case of Aaron Briggs, a ranaway indentured ser-
vant. Within a month of the Gaspee's destruction Briggs turned up on board the
Beaver and Captain Linzee, the commander, sent the transcript of a statement
by Briggs on to Admiral Montagu in Boston. It was this deposition, even more
than that of Dickinson, that excited the admiral because Briggs singled out
people by name. “Although it comes from a negro man,” Montagu wrote
Wanton and Hillsborough, “it carries with it an appearance of truth.”* It
agreed to Montagu’s satisfaction with what he had gleaned from the reponts
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of Dickinson and Dudingston, and Briggs’s presence among the boarders had
been confirmed in a separate statement by Patrick Earle, one of the Gaspee's
seamen. As Briggs told it, he had been forced to join the group that boarded the
schooner. He identified five participants: John and Joseph Brown of Providence,
Simeon Potter of Bristol, a “Doctor Weeks” of Warwick, and a “Mr. Richmond”
of Providence. "It appears to me,” Montagu apprised Hillsborough, “that these
people were the ringleaders of the piratical proceeding.”* In fact, according to
Briggs, John Brown was in command and had fired a musket at the Gaspee,
after which he saw Dudingston fall.

Briggs repeated all of this for the commission in more detail soon after it be-
gan meeting in January 1773. In a noteworthy change, he stated explicitly that
John Brown had shot Dudingston. Briggs’s claim that he was with the boarders
was again corroborated by Earle two days later. Earle could not remember
anything about the others involved, except that he had heard one referred to
by name as Potter.®

The runaway servant had been sequestered on board the Beaver much of this
time—some seven months—to keep local authorities from getting to him.

They were nevertheless prepared, because Montagu himself had sent a copy

of Briggs's deposition to Governor Wanton in July. Within days of receiving it,
Wanton had obtained refutations from Briggs’s master, the master’s father-in-
law, and two indentured servants who swore that Briggs had been asleep between
them in the same bed that night. These counterclaims were laid before the com-
mission. Eventually added to them was a letter from Darius Sessions stating that
“it 1s impossible (I think) that there can be a word of truth” in Briggs’s story, and
that when he interviewed crew members the morning of the incident, none of
them—including Patrick Earle—could identify anyone. It was, they had all
agreed, too dark to see individuals clearly or even to tell if the boarders were
Negroes or white men with blackened faces. If crew members were now

saying something different, “their testimony is absolutely false.”*

What is more, Daniel Vaughan testified to the commission that Captain Linzee
had tied Briggs to the mast of the Beaver and was prepared to whip him unless
he named names." Vaughan came very close to claiming that Linzee had coerced
Briggs into saying what he wanted to hear, in effect fabricating evidence for
Admiral Montagu. Vaughan also noted that he had told this to Sessions and that
Sessions had met with him at the suggestion of John and _ﬂaseph Brown and
Barzillai Richmond [probably the Richmond whose first name Aaron Briggs had
not known). Like Wanton before he joined the commission, Sessions only collected
testimony that cast doubt on those who implicated individuals in the Gaspee raid.

With Briggs, the commissioners heard conflicting testimony. Had Sessions,
Vaughan, the Browns, and Richmond connived and conspired? Had the others
who spoke against Briggs? The commissioners could disregard the depositions
of those who challenged Briggs and ask the colony’s Superior Court to hand
down indictments against the Browns and the others named by the runaway,
but they did not do this. Perhaps they did not believe that the indictments
would be issued, or perhaps they too did not believe Briggs. Wanton had dis-
missed Briggs as a reputable witness before the commission was even formed;
he had no reason to change his mind thereafter. Daniel Horsmanden confided
to Dartmouth afterward that Briggs’s testimony was useless because the servant
showed himself to be a “prevaricator.”*' The commuissioners consequently did
not pursue the lead Briggs gave them.
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What transpired with Aaron Briggs echoed what had taken place before. On

12 January, Stephen Gulley, a Smithfield farmer, had appeared and testified to
the commission that he had been told by a friend, who had heard from someone
else, that “Browns” had been involved in the destruction of the Gaspee. His
testimony of thirdhand hearsay was followed in rapid succession by deponents
contending that the conversation he recounted never took place and that he was
an opportunist looking to cash in on the reward being offered by the Crown.*
The commission did not act on Gulley’s assertion or on the other shreds of
evidence offered to it in January or at the second session in June.*!

Even without the evidence given to discredit those who came forward, obtain-
ing a conviction in an English court for a capital offense may well have been
impossible. The discrepancies turned up by the commission would most
likely have turned up again in court. Furthermore, there is no guarantee that
the commission’s task would have been simpler or that indictments, trials,
and convictions would have followed if Dudingston or members of his crew
had 1dentified suspects. The effect might have been just the opposite; the task
of Wanton, Sessions, Hopkins, and their obstructionist colleagues could have
been made easier.

According to long tradition and a few later accounts, John Brown led the board-
ers. What if Brown had led the raid and Dudingston or someone else identified
him? If Dudingston or any of his crew had disclosed this information to Sessions
when he looked in on them the morning of 10 June, events could have taken a
markedly different course. Remember that Sessions did not report to Wanton
until 11 June what had happened the day betore. I think we can safely assume
that in the interim Sessions had talked with most of the leading men of Provi-
dence, including, perhaps, the men who boarded the Gaspee—John Brown
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probably among them. They might have agreed to take a calculated risk and
deny any involvement, hoping that no eyewitnesses would turn up, that none

of their number would betray them, and that provincial officials, from the gover-
nor on down, would use local law to shield them. Had they been identified from
the outset, the law could have been employed quite effectively. Sessions’s 11
June 1772 letter to Wanton would have been phrased differently, justifying
rather than condemning that “very disagreeable affair.” Instead of lamenting

the incident in his correspondence to Montagu and Hillsborough, Wanton

could have backed Brown and the rest, with the law—local law—behind him.

Justification could have started with the question of the right to board. John
Brown was sheriff of Bristol County and had been since 1771. The Gaspee had
run aground in neighboring Kent County, but close enough to the county line
bisecting the Providence River to justify his rowing out to inspect the scene. Of
the others identified by Aaron Briggs, Simeon Potter sat for Bristol in the General
Assembly; Joseph Brown sat for Cumberland.** Given the propensity of Rhode
Islanders to use local law as their most basic defense, Potter and Brown, if
brought under suspicion, might have made some argument about their “right”
of inspection because they were public officials. For that matter, all those who
accompanied John Brown might have claimed that they were his deputies on
official colony business, understandably concerned about what Dudingston was
doing. The General Assembly would presumably have backed them.

Even if Brown had acted on his own, he would have been endorsed afterward

by Governor Wanton and Chief Justice Hopkins. Beyond the matter of jurisdic-
tion, there was also the factor of kinship and community. Brown was married to
Hopkins's niece; his family had strong business ties with Wanton. Corroborated
by Dudingston's own testimony or that of his crew, Brown could have estab-
lished that he had identified himself as sheriff, that Dudingston had refused to
allow him on board, and that the crew of the Gaspee had fired first; he and his
party had fired only in response, in self-defense. He could have either accepted
responsibility for shooting Dudingston or, just as easily—citing the account in
Dickinson’s deposition—contended that Dudingston’s own men had shot him

in the confusion. Since neither Dudingston nor any of his crew had actually

scen how the blaze had started on the schooner, Brown could also have testified
that it had started accidentally and that he and his companions had left only
after trying to extinguish it. Or he could have contended 1ha§ as he understood
it, the Gaspee had been operating in Rhode Island without authorization and was
destroyed as any other pirate vessel might have been. Either way, Dudingston
could have ended up looking worse, Rhode Islanders would have been even more
confident that they were in the right, and imperial authorities would have
appeared impotent.

Unidentified and therefore not given the explicit sanction of local law, the
Gaspee boarders were nevertheless protected by local authorities, even as those
authorities claimed to be appalled and even as they disingenuously promised
London their assistance. As John Phillip Reid has noted, the Gaspee affair can

be viewed as another example of the kind of “competing legal cultures” that he
found in Massachusetts at the time of the Liberty riots in 1768. If the people of
Massachusetts “accepted the constitutional premises that underlay opposition to
British rule, they could also accept the constitutional premise justifying manipu-
lation of the legal process to oppose that rule.”* So too, Reid concluded, with the
people of Rhode Island: a mob like that assembled in the Gaspee affair could be
seen as an agent of higher law as well as of local prerogative, a posse comitatus
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acting to protect the liberties of the people.*® Had any members of that posse
gone to trial, they may well have lied even when offering sworn testimony.
With fundamental freedoms at stake, they could, with clear consciences,
deceive those they believed had made an illegal, unconstitutional application
of the law.

Of the five Gaspee commissioners, Wanton was the only one fully satisfied
with the results of their inquiry. All three of the chief justices who sat on the
commission believed that Rhode Island’s virtual autonomy and the uncoop-
erativeness of its officials made their task impossible, “As to the Government
(if it deserves that name), it is a downright democracy,” Daniel Horsmanden
complained to Dartmouth soon after the January 1773 adjournment. Rhode
Island, he worried, was in a “state of anarchy” because all provincial officials
were at the mercy of the people: “The Governor is a mere nominal one, and
therefore a cipher, without power or authority; entirely controlled by the
populace, elected annually, as all other magistrates and officers whatsoever.”*

In his own dispatch to Dartmouth, written during the same period, Frederick
Smyth lamented that Rhode Islanders smuggled in “egregious excess” and that
Dudingston, a good officer, had been maligned. The assault on the Gaspee,
“though perpetrated at a place and in such a manner as without all doubt the
actors must be known to some hundreds of the inhabitants of the colony, is
hitherto kept so profoundly secret that all our enquiry has been ineffectual to
fix with certainty upon any particular person concerned in the outrage, and to
keep this matter a secret is now become a common cause.”* In his history of
the rebellion, penned some years later while in a London exile, Peter Oliver
echoed Horsmanden and Smyth and added that the outcome of their inquiry
had only encouraged the “colonists to play the same Game again, upon the
first Opportunity.”*

Smyth and Oliver probably would have agreed with Horsmanden's suggestion
that Rhode Island’s charter be revoked so that the colony could be brought
under more effective imperial control. Horsmanden urged that Rhode Island
be joined with Connecticut to form a single colony under a royally appointed
governor. The better sort in both colonies, he believed, would welcome the
change, because they had long groaned under a “motley administration.”*
Nonetheless, Horsmanden was not as harsh as Smyth and Oliver in eriticizing
the proceedings of the commission. He was convinced that Dudingston had
provoked the people, and he believed that Wanton was a fair man, not part

of any conspiracy. Unlike Smyth, who was willing to give credence to Aaron
Briggs’s testimony, Horsmanden thought it unreliable if plausible. Indeed,

he may have detected in it the attempt of Captain Linzee to make sure that
indictments were handed down against those he had decided were guilty.
Possibly it was Horsmanden, working with Wanton and Auchmuty, who
composed the final report to the Crown. If so, Smyth and Oliver went along
with them. Although Oliver returned to Massachusetts before the report was
signed and officially submitted, Smyth stayed to the last and had reputedly let
it be known that “he was come to judge according to Law and Right, and not
to be the Executioner of Ministerial vengeance.”*!' Even Oliver, whatever his
personal feelings, eventually concurred with his onetime colleagues.™

Hence the wording of the commission’s findings, dated 22 June 1773, Stating
that they had used “the utmost assiduity” to discover the truth, the commis-
sioners readily conceded that their efforts were “not attended with the success
ardently wished for by all.” They did not know who planned or executed the
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attack and could only conclude that it was done on the spur of the moment,
very “suddenly and secretly.” As best they could determine, the Gaspee had
been boarded by “a number of armed people, many of whom, by their dress,
appeared much above the rank of common people, and were accompanied by
several negroes and others.” These boarders wounded Lieutenant Dudingston,
treated his crew with “great barbarity,” and plundered and then burned the
vessel. Beyond that, they could say nothing about the events of 10 June 1772.>

They went on—possibly at Wanton's insistence, though with at least the acqui-
escence of two others—to write some fairly sharp words about Dudingston and
Linzee. They observed that Dudingston would not talk to Darius Sessions and
had refused, initially, to allow his men to be interviewed. more importantly,
Dudingston was much at fault for what had happened because he had failed to
report to Governor Wanton and because, “in some instances,” he had shown an
“intemperate, if not reprehensible zeal to aid the revenue service,” a zeal that
pushed him to “exceed the bounds of his duty.” Linzee they castigated for his
“contemptuous,” “unjustifiable” treatment of civil authority and (in reference
to Aaron Briggs| for his overzealousness in extracting “from a weak, or wicked
mind, declarations not strictly true.”* The commissioners also noted that they
had passed their findings on to the Rhode Island Superior Court, which handed
down no indictments. In making this last observation they intended no criticism
of the court; on the contrary, the tone of their report indirectly supported the
court’s inaction.

It is hard to imagine any other outcome. If the king and his ministers had wanted
above all else to obtain convictions and make an example of those who boarded
the Gaspee, then the commission was ill-suited for that task. The North minis-
try could have explored other options, as Lawrence DeVaro noted in his study
of this affair > It might, for instance, have empowered the commission to issue
indictments itself; or it might have formed a second commission to act as a
special court of oyer and terminer, thereby avoiding a jury trial in Rhode Island
or England. With one commission reinforcing the other and local authorities
left out, perhaps more leads would have been followed, more depositions taken,
more summonses issued. With Wanton not named to the first commission and
the second composed of British jurists, there may have been indictments, then
trials and possibly even convictions.

Vaguely worded imperial laws could have been interpreted to ghe advantage of
Dudingston; conflicting local laws could have been set aside as irrelevant because
subordinate, or invalid because in contravention. Dudingston had confessed to
Montagu in May 1772 that he feared he himself was breaking imperial law by
taking prizes to Boston instead of before John Andrews, the vice-admiralty justice
in Rhode Island. Dudingston took prizes to Boston because he had been wamed
by customs collectors not to expect convictions in any Rhode Island court. The
1767 law that he thought he might have violated stated that

all Forfeitures and Penalties inflicted by any Act or Acts of Parliament
relating to the Trade or Revenues in the British Colonies or Plantations in
America. may be prosecuted, sued tor, and recovered in, any Court of Vice-
Admiralty appointed, or to be appointed, and which shall have Jurisdiction
within the Colony, Plantation, or Place, where the Cause of such Prosecution,
or Suit shall have anisen ™

A sympathetic judge could have ruled that the Boston vice-admiralty court had

jurisdiction over prizes seized in Rhode Island. The vague wording—"may” and
“to be appointed”—would have made it simple for him. Or if he chose not to
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use that clause, he could have tumed to the next one, which allowed a customs
official to appeal any case not decided to his satisfaction to the vice-admiralty
court of his choosing, “any Law, Custom or Usage, to the contrary notwith-
standing.” Such a reading would not have helped Dudingston, who had not
gone to Andrews’s court first, but it could have helped others in the future

who appealed immediately to the Boston court after losing a case before
Andrews or one of the Rhode Island common-law courts. This 1767 statute
could have been used in a trial on the particulars of the Gaspee incident to
make a sweeping statement of broadened imperial power, even for formally
setting aside the 1673 statute that allowed prize cases to be prosecuted in any
“court of record” in the colonies. Given the confusion over jurisdiction and
conflicting testimony, however, conviction for treason and a sentence of death
would still have been almost unthinkable. There were just too many mitigating
circumstances and complicated questions of law.

It is quite possible that by 1773, as Admiral Montagu reportedly lamented,
“British Acts of Parliament will never go down in America unless forced by the
point of a sword.”*” Even so, Whitehall and Westminster were reluctant to use
the full force of imperial law and did not talk of using the sword, despite the
gravity of the Gaspee affair. To that extent London’s reaction to the destruc-
tion of the Gaspee was more a matter of old habits than any indication of a
new policy to come. That new approach was not taken until after the Boston
Tea Party, and in Massachusetts, not Rhode Island. The charge of treason, the
offering of huge rewards, and the appointment of a special commission notwith-
standing, the North ministry did not pull out all the stops to punish Rhode
Island and put someone on trial.

Although Hillsborough and Dartmouth did not think that Rhode Island
authorities could be trusted to investigate the Gaspee incident, they gave no
plenary powers to their special commission, they named Joseph Wanton to it
despite Hillshorough's distrust of the governor, and they made the commission
dependent on Rhode Island law officers and politicians to get anything done.
Before expressing amazement at all of this, we should remember that when
another ministry had sent troops to Boston to quell civil disturbances four
years carlier, those troops did not have a mandate to patrol the town; they

had to rely on provincial officials to define their responsibilities. In 1772, as

in 1768, the boundaries of imperial law and local law were stifl being drawn.

If Wedderburn and Thurlow had been clear in their August 1772 opinion that
the attack on the Gaspee had been high treason, they were ambiguous on the
question of jurisdiction. The offenders, these law officers determined, could be
indicted “either here or in Rhode Island taking that Assertion of the Governor
to be true that the Ship was stationed within the Body of some County in that
Province.”* In strictly legal terms there is nothing muddled about such rea-
soning, but law does not exist in a vacuum. Politically their opinion was too
imprecise; if pressed, Rhode Islanders could have seized on it to challenge the
validity of any trial held outside the colony.

Convinced that they were legally beyond the reach of the commissioners
anyway, three Rhode Island lawyers had considered refusing to appear before
them. “We know them not as a Court vested with any legal Power,” they wrote
to Stephen Hopkins. “The least Notice therefore taken of their Summons would
be a partial Acknowledgment of their Jurisdiction,” and to “acquiesce” in that
“would entail an eternal Infamy on those, who ought to be acquainted with the
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Principles of the Constitution. "™ Their ringing condemnation of the commis-
sion disturbed and worried Hopkins. His fierce words to the General Assembly
notwithstanding, Hopkins preferred a flanking movement to a frontal assault.
He urged the three to muffle their objections. The lawyers went through the
motions of cooperating and wrote notes to the commissioners, but they did not
go to Newport in January 1773, John Andrews, the vice-admiralty justice, gave a
similar response. As a Rhode Islander first, a royal appointee second, he stayed
home in Providence.”

No imperial official ever pieced together what happened on the Gaspee, nor
has any historian since. There are many unreconciled differences and large gaps
in the record. Had the Gaspee simply run aground while pursuing the packet
Hannah, as was claimed by the Providence Gazette at the time, and by two of
the self-professed boarders many years later? Dudingston said he had heard that
one of the boarders was killed; no one else said anything of the kind. Who was
right? Of even greater interest, did someone call out to Dudingston and say he
had a warrant for the lieutenant’s arrest? Did he in fact have one and then tear it
up the next day after talking with Darius Sessions? Or did the boarders, with no
warrant, blacken their faces and row with muffled oars, intent on destroying
the schooner regardless of the consequences? Who were the boarders, and how
many local officials were involved in the subsequent cover-up? Would Rhode
Islanders, led by their governor, have taken up arms to prevent anyone from
being transferred to England for trial? These and many other questions are left
unanswered. Until they are, we will not know what the men who boarded the
Gaspee intended to do and, therefore, how daring they actually were or what
role their understanding of law plaved in their decisions.

Even so, we can use the Gaspee affair to illustrate the vagaries of the past as
well as the underlying problems of empire.*” And regardless of the indefinite
information that was gathered after the affair, the destruction of the Gaspee and
the appointment of a royal commission to investigate it had a most definite
impact on the Revolutionary movement. What happened on the Gaspee was a
mystery to four members of the commission that investigated the matter; it
remains a mystery to us now, albeit for rather different reasons. It is, perhaps, a
mystery that will never be solved.
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comprehensive source. References to
other sources will be for documents not
included in Bartlett's collection. The
documents that Bartlett used can be
found in either the Rhode Island State
Archives or the Rhode Island Historical
Society [RIHS).

14, Bartletr, Gaspee, 9-10.
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. Dudingston to Montagu, 24 Mar. 1772,
in K. G. Davies, ed., Documents of the
American Revolution, 1770-1783, 21
vols. [Dublin: Insh University Press,
1972], 5 (Transcripts, 1772): 51. Davies
drew from the Public Record Office,
Colonial Office (PRO/CO), and pro-
duced two types of volumes in his
senies: “Calendars” that list correspon-
dence, and “Transcripts” of the actual
letters. Some of the more important
Gaspee documents can be found here,
mcluding a few Bartlett had not seen.

. Bartlett, Gaspee, 10-11,
- Ind

. Ibid,, 12

. Imd,, 14-15.

. Thid, 15.

. This is a bareboned account of the inci-
dent, but all thar is warranted, T think,
based on the surviving documents. John
C. Miller, Origins of the American Revo-
lution |Boston: Little, Brown, 1943, 325-
29, has a colorful recounting that relies
very heavily on Ephraim Bowen's 1839
remimiscence (in Bartlett, Gaspee. 16-21)
and gives no hint that it might be much
m error. Miller was perhaps the most
enthusiastic historian to rely on Bowen,
but most others have also followed
Bowen's version of events. Even DeVaro,
“Impact of the Gaspee,” the most
derailed study 1o date on the subject,
retells the events of 9-10 June

(pp. 69-941 basically as Bowen recalled
them (with some minor changes|.
Bernhard Knollenberg, Growth of the
American Revolution, 1766-1775

{New York: Free Press, 1975), 82-87,
was very cautious in his Gaspee nar-
rative; see his letter to RIHS librarian
Clarkson Collins, 8 June 1964 |vertical
file, subject 6249, Gaspee, RIHS, for

his doubts about Bowen's account.
Knaollenberg equivocated on the matter
of Dudingston’s pursuit of the packet
Hannah as the cause of the Gaspee's
running aground—a claim made by

the Providence Gazette, 13 lune 1772,
repeated by Bowen in 1839, and accepted
by most historians as true. As it stands,
the only firsthand contemporaneous
accounts of the boarding and burning of
the Gaspee are from Dudingston and his
crew, and they said nothing about the
Hannah. We do not know the source for
the information printed in the
Providence Gazette. There is also an
anonymous account of events by a
nonparticipant dated Newport, 16 June
1772, enclosed in a letter from customs
commuissioner John Robinson to John
Pownall, 5 Nov, 1772, in PRO/CO 5/
145, no. 131; transcript in the Gaspee

B R

Papers, RIHS; printed in Davies,
Documents 5 [Transcripts); 127-28.

It alluded to the Hannah, but it too was
written after the Providence Gazette
story. There is another anonymous
account (which also mentioned the
Hannah), apparently wnitten between
the buming of the Gaspee and the
receipt of news that a commission had
been appointed, in Rhode Island MSS
ca 1772, John Hay Library, Brown
University. We also have John Mawney's
1826 reminiscence (in Bartlett, Gaspee,
22-24), comments written on the back
of Ephraim Bowen's narrative by John
Howland shortly after {in Rhode Island
Manuscnipts, 10:124a, RIHS), and How-
land’s own 1840 “Recollections” (in the
John Howland Papers, RIHS). These men
differed on certain details, just as had the
crew of the Gaspee back in 1772, Sidney
Morse, Freemasonry in the American
Revolution (Washington, D.C.; Masonic
Services Association, 1924), 48, offered
no proof for his claim that members of
the Providence Freemason lodge were
behind the Gaspee atfair.

. Bartlett, Gaspee, 25-26.
. Ihid., 29. The proclamation was pub-

lished in the next issues of Rhode
Island’s two weekly newspapers—the
Providence Gazette, 13 June 1772, and
the Newport Mercury, 15 June 1772—
following their accounts (a brief notice
in the Mercury, actually) of what
supposedly happened to the Gaspee.

. Bartlett, Gaspee, 39.
. See George II's proclamation of 26 Aug,

1772, the royal commission forming a
hoard of inquiry of 2 Sept. 1772, and the
royal instructions to the commissioners
of 4 Sept. 1772, ibid., 55-60. The advice
that the attack should be considered as
“High Treason" was offered by Attorney
General Alexander Wedderburn and So-
licitor General Edward Thurlow in their
report to Hillsborough of 10 Aug. 1772,
They based their opinion an papers sent
to Hillsborough by Admiral Montagu.
Their report can be found 1n PRO/CO 5/
159, no. 93 (Library of Congress micro-
film copyl, a transcnipt of which is in the
Gaspee Papers.

. Or at least so claimed John Pownall in

his letter to the earl of Dartmouth of 29
Aug. 1772, calendared in Historical
Manuscripts Commussion, Earl of Dart-
mouth, 2:91. For Dartmouth’s views, see
B. D. Bargar, Lord Dartmouth and the
American Revolution (Columba:
Umiversity of South Carolina Press,
1963), 74-81.

27. Newport Mercury, 21 Dec. 1772,

reprinted in the Providence Gazette,

26 Dec. 1772, and the Virginia Gazette
{Rind], 28 lan. 1773. Stephen Hopkins is
thought to have been the author of this
picce. As can be scen with the “Amen-
canus” essay, some of the information
printed in the Rhode Island newspapers
was garbled; see also, for example, the
report in the Providence Gazette of 24
Oct. 1772 characterizing the commis-
sion as a count of over and terminer.
Leslie, “Gaspee Affair,” concluded that
the newspapers showed “little regard
for truth” (p. 242} and were not above
passing out misinformation to inflame
the public. DeVaro, “Impact of the Gas-
pee” |p. 170n.), contended that “there is
no proof of any ‘deliberate’ effort by the
press to create false impressions con-
cerning the nature of the commussion "
I lean toward DeVaro here, although it
is clear that Solomon Southwick, editor
of the Newpart Mercury, and John Car-
ter, editor of the Providence Gazette—
like other editors, for that matter—did
not see it as their responsibility to give
both sides of an issue or verify informa-
tion before they printed it. Furthermore,
while I agree with Arthur Schlesinger,
Prelude to Independence (New York:
Alfred A. Knopf, 1958), about the impor-
tant role newspapers played in fostering
revolutionary sentiments and activities,
I would be careful not to exaggerate
their efforts. Schlesinger wrote that

the Gaspee commission “carnied on its
work in the first halt of 1773 with the
newspapers keeping sleepless watch
P. 155, That was hardly the case. The
Providence Gazette printed more than
the Newport Mercury, but 1t did not
really include that much. The first two
pages of these four-page sheets usually
reprinted information gleaned from
British sources about continental
European affairs, as well as nudbits

trom Britain and the other mainland
Amencan colonies. Judging by sheer
volume of coverage, these papers
seemed more interested in the pecca-
dilloes of the Damsh dowager queen
than in the Gaspee affair.

. Virginia Gazette |Purdie and Dixon),

18 Feb. 1773, from the Providence
Gazette, 9 Jan. 1773; also in the
Newport Mercury, 18 Jan, 1773,

. So wrote John Howland in his unpub-

lished “Recollections” (1840), now in
the John Howland Papers.

. From Article 3 of the royal instructions

to the commissioners of 4 Sept. 1772,
in Bartlett, Gaspee. 59.

. This according to Ezra Sules in his diary

entry for 20 Jan. 1773 and his letter to
Elihu Spencer of 16 Feb. 1773, in The
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33

F

36.

37,
38,

39,

Literary Diary of Ezra Stiles, ed. Frank-
lin Bowditch Dexter, 3 vols. (New York:
Charles Scribner’s Sons, 1901}, 1:337, 349.

. A transcript of the court martial proceed-

ings in PRO, Court Martials, no. 46, 14

Oct. 1772, 1s kept with the Gaspee Papers.

The text was published in the Rhode
Island Historical Society Proceedings,
1890-91, 85-90, along with other “Gaspee
Documents.” Bryant, “HMS Gaspee.” 67-
71, included the text of the proceedings
taken from the PRO, Admiralty Papers;
the depositions are the same, but the
latter version [transcribed by Bryant) is
missing the summary paragraph that
appears in the RIHS Proceedings.

From Dickinson’s testimony before the
commuissioners on | June 1773 in Bartlett,
Gaspee, 115-17; compare this statement
with his deposition to Admiral Montagu
of 11 June 1772, 30-32. Admuralty’s rea-
sons for retrurming Dickinson and Cheever
to testify were given to Dartmouth in a
letter of 4 Mar. 1773, PRO/CO 5/119,

no. 32; transcript in the Gaspee Papers.

. Bartlett, Gaspee, 34.35.
. Ihid,, 33. DeVaro, “Impact of the Gaspee,”

127, n. 13, concluded (like Montagu| that
there “does not appear to be any funda-
mental difference between the deposi-
tions” of the Gaspee crew. But there

were differences in the depositions tak-
en immediately after the event and the
statements made at the court martial and,
later, before the commissioners. Although
the differences were minor, collectively
they could have produced enough con-
fusion and raised enough questions

to make convictions of anyone difficult.

Montagu to Wanton, 8 July 1772, in
Bartlett, Gaspee, 41; also see Montagu
o Hillshorough, 11 July 1772, 42-43.

Ihid., 43,

Briggs's July 1772 deposition given to
Captain Linzee, which Linzee sent to
Montagu and the admiral in turn sent to
Wanton on & July, is in Bartlett, Gaspee,
41-42. Also see the somewhat different
version dated 16 July 1772 and sent by
Montagu to Hillshorough in Davies,
Documents 5 [Transcripts): 146-47.
Briggs's deposition before the commus-
sioners of 14 Jan. 1773, Patrick Earle's
of 16 lan. 1773, and Earle's original
deposition of 16 July 1772 are in Bartlett,
Gaspee, 8487, 89-90, 45,

Sessions to the commissioners, 18 Jan.
1773, in Bartlett, Gaspee, 98. The depo-
sitions gathered by Governor Wanton on
10-11 July to refute Briggs's assertions
are on pp. 43-45; testimony before the
commissioners on 11 June 1773 by

one other deponent is on pp. 121-22,

40. Vaughan's testimony of 16 Jan. 1773 15
in Bartlent, Gaspee, 96-97.

41. In a letter of 23 July 1773, ibud,, 134-35.

42, Gulley’s 12 jan. 1773 deposition is in
Bartlett, Gaspee. §1-82; Joseph Borden's
testimony the next day countering his
1s on pp. 83-84; a deposition given by
William Thayer to Darius Sessions,
which Sessions forwarded to the com-
mission, is on p. 95, as 1s Sessions's
summary of 4 statement made to him
by Saul Ramsdale. Also sec Ezra Stiles’s
criticism of Gulley’s character in
Literary Diary, 1:332, 335.

43. Most notably, sec Gaspee crew mem-
ber Peter May's testimony before the
commuission on 19 Jan. 1773 in Bartlett,
Gaspee, 99-100, that one of the boarders
was named Greene. May described this
man as tall and slender, with brown
hair, and said that “he appeared to be
the owner” of a sloop that the Gaspee
had seized sometime before. The Rhode
Island Supenor Court ruled on 11 June
1773 that May’s information was too
vague to act on. Aaron Briggs's testi-
mony it discounted enurely, see

Bartlett, Gaspee. 123-24.

44. Rhode Island provincial officials elected
in May 1772 are listed in Bartlett, ed.,
Records of Rhode Island 7:42-45; Provi-
dence town officers clected in June 1772
are listed in the Providence Gazette,

6 June 1772,

45, Reid, In a Defiant Stance, 69-70,

46, Ihid., 85-89, 101. Also see Gordon S. Wood,
“A Note on Mobs in the American
Revolution,” William and Mary
Quarterly, 3rd ser,, 23 {1966): 635-42,
Pauline Maier, “Popular Uprisings and
Civil Authority in Eighteenth-Century
America,” ibid., 3rd ser., 27 {1970):
3-35; and Richard Maxwell Brown,
“Violence and the American Revo-
lution,” in Essays on the American
Revolution, ed. Stephen G. Kuntz
and James H. Hutson (Chapel Hill:
University of North Carolina Press,
1973, 81-120.

47. Horsmanden to Dartmouth, 20 Feb.
1773, in Bartlett, Gaspee. 130-33.

48. Smyth to Dartmouth, 8 Feb. 1773, in
Davies, Documents, 6 (Transcripts):
82-85.

49. Peter Oliver's “Origin and Progress of
the American Rebellion,” ed. Douglass
Adair and John A_ Schutz {Stanford, Calif -
Stanford University Press, 1961, 98,

50. Bartlett, Gaspee, 132

51. So reported Ezra Stiles in his letter
to Elihu Spencer of 16 Feb. 1773, in
Dexter, ed., Literary Diary, 1:347.

52,

55.
56.

57.

58.

59,

62.

See Oliver's letter to Dartmouth of 20
July 1773 in PRO/CO 5/762, no. 771;
transcript in the Gaspee Papers,

. The full report is reproduced i Bartlet,

Gaspee. 126-30.

. Ibid., 128, for comments on Dudingston;

129 and 130 for Linzee.

DeVaro, “Impact of the Caspee,” 163-64,
Statutes at Large. B George II1, ¢. 22.

The law took effect on 1 Sepr. 1768.
Related to Dartmouth by the Reverend
William Gordon in a letter of 16 June
1773, in Historical Manuscripts Com-
muission, Earl of Dartmouth, 2:156.
Report of 10 Aug. 1772 in PROJCO 5/159,
no. 93; wranscnipt in the Gaspee Papers.
MS Amer. 1773, Ja. 19, John Carter
Brown Library, Brown University.

. Ibid., Ja. 20 (F).
61.

The notes to the commissioners from
Andrews and the three lawyers (George
Brown, Daniel Hitchcock, and John Cole)
are in Bartlett, Gaspee, 103-106, all dated
20 Jan. 1773. Andrews, Brown, and Cole
did appear before the commissioners in
June, however. Samuel Adams would
have preferred that these men and every-
one else [even Governor Wanton) in
Rhode Island not cooperate at all. See

his letters to Darius Sessions, written

In response to inquiries sent to him

and others by Sessions, Stephen Hop-
kins, Moses Brown, and John Cole, in
The Writings of Samuel Adams, ed. Harry
Alonzo Cushing, 4 vols. [New York:

G. P. Putnam’s Sons, 1905-07), letters

of 28 Dec. 1772 (2:389-92), 2 Jan. 1773
(2:395-401, and __ Feb. 1773 (2:427-28),
also see Adams's letter to Richard Henry
Lee of 10 Apr. 1773 (3:25-28).

And therehy offé an cffective counter to
the type of didactic history advocated in
Horatio B. Knox, The Destruction of the
Gaspee [1908), a pamphlet prepared for
the Rhode Island Educational Curricu-
lum, Historical Series 3, to be used by
primary grade teachers (copy in the Rhode
Island State Archives among the papers in
“Gaspee Affair: Prelude to 2 Tea Party”),
In his “Suggestions to Teachers,” Knox
urged that the story of the Gaspee’s
destruction “be treated as a local hero
tale, in which a few brave men dared,

for love of freedom, to incur the wrath

of a great king. Avoid every suggestion

of controversy, and assume as a matter

aof course that the action of our fathers 1
was justified by the equities of the case. ”
P 3, A very patriotic narrative written

by Knox followed as the teachers’ guide
to a stary that “is to be an inspiration to
patriotic devotion and self-sacrifice.” Thid.
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Rhode Island and the War of 1812

N&WS of the declaration of war in June 1812 and the confiscation of the
property of American merchants by the British “stares many in this town
who are in affluent circumstances, in the face with ruin,” Newport resident
Stephen W. Gould lamented, “and those of more indigent circumstances feel the
strongest probability of starvation, for want of business to procure food to eat.”
Gould’s observation reflected the forebodings widely felt in Rhode Island, and
elsewhere in the nation, with the outbreak of the war. While all Americans
resented the British violations of American maritime rights that led to the con-
flict, many Americans, including a majority of Rhode Islanders, did not believe
that war, with its attendant economic hardships, was necessary or justified.

Historians of the War of 1812 have emphasized the strong antiwar sentiment
in New England, but they have concentrated on Massachusetts and Connecti-
cut.” Studying Rhode Island provides us with another view of the debate that
divided the nation. The conflict in Rhode Island over the war raised several
issues of importance to our understanding of the impact of foreign policy on
state politics, and it throws light as well on the development of the peace
movement after the war was over.'

The long chain of events that finally led to war began with the renewal of

the Anglo-French struggle in 1803 for supremacy in Europe. Both England and
France seized American ships bound for the other’s ports, but British behavior
incensed Americans more, because the British also took seamen off the seized
vessels and forced them to serve in the British merchant marine and naval
forces. Americans considered these violations of neutral rights as an attack
on American national sovereignty, a violation of American national honor,
and evidence of British reluctance to respect American independence.

British warships cruising off the American coast seized cargdes, ships, and
seamen throughout the first decade of the nineteenth century. Occasionally
these vessels violated American territorial waters, a practice that led to a
diplomatic confrontation between President Thomas Jefferson and the British in
the summer of 1804. Two years later a British warship, the Leander, opened fire
on a coastal trading sloop off Sandy Hook, New Jersey, killing one American.
Jefferson’s efforts to have the British government punish the captain of the
Leander were unsuccessful. A year later, in June 1807, another British warship,
the Leopard, fired on the American frigate Chesapeake, killing three seamen
and injuring eighteen. After months of unsuccessful negotiations to resolve the
Chesapeake affair, along with the issues of impressment and ship seizures,
President Jefferson and Congress imposed an embargo on all foreign trade in
December 1807. The embargo reflected the belief of Jefferson and other Republi-
cans that commercial retaliation, as an alternative to diplomacy, could be an
effective means of pressuring the British to change their objectionable policies.
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The embargo was a failure: not only did it not coerce the British, but it also
led to a political backlash at home. New England and New York, both heavily
dependent on shipping, reacted to the embargo by voting for the Republicans’
political opponents, the Federalists. In Rhode Island the Federalists staged a
strong political comeback. After 1800 a majonty of Rhode Islanders had appeared
to identify with the principles of the Republican party—republicanism, equali-
tarianism, nationalism, and Anglophobia—and to accept the Republican image
of the Federalists as a party of aristocrats, elitists, Anglophiles, and Tories.
Federalists had been unable to mount a successful challenge to Republican
domination of the state. Discontent with the economic consequences of the
embargo, however, produced a resurgence of Federalism in Rhode Island, and
the Federalists remained a viable political force in the state through the end of
the war.

When the 1807 embargo was lifted in the spring of 1809, President James Madi-
son—like Jefferson, a Republican—imposed the Nonintercourse Act, a measure
more specifically aimed against France and Great Britain. The Nonintercourse
Act expired without successfully pressuring either belligerent into respecting
American neutral rights, and Congress then substituted Macon’s Bill No.2. From
May 1810 until March 1811 Madison reopened trade with both belligerents
under the provisions of the Macon Bill, but he imposed nonimportation on Great
Britain when negotiations to resolve the outstanding issues in Anglo-American
relations failed to produce a breakthrough.

Since neither commercial retaliation nor diplomacy proved effective against
the British, President Madison began to consider other alternatives. By the
winter of 1811-12 he had decided that war was the only option open to the
United States to force the British to respect American maritime rights. Con-
vinced, too, that the failure of the two successive Republican administrations
to win British recognition of American rights threatened continued Republican
party control of the federal government, and possibly even endangered the
republican form of that government, Madison and Republican congressional
leaders opted for war. War, they hoped, would unify the nation, eliminate the
Federalists as a political force, and demonstrate to the British that a republican
government could resort to arms to win its rights.

In Rhode Island’s annual election for governor two months prior to the declara-
tion of war, the incumbent, Federalist William Jones, defeated former governor
James Fenner, a Republican. Both political parties had turned the election into
a referendum on war. Republicans emphasized patriotic appeals and identified
the Federalists with the British. “England, the deadly foe of our country, refuses
to discontinue her system of piracy upon our lawful commerce,” Republicans
told the voters, and an “appeal to force must be made” if negotiations fail. War
appeared the only alternative to national humiliation. Electing Republicans to
the governorship and state legislature would strengthen the Madison administra-
tion in its negotiations with the British, whereas the election of Federalists
“will enable Great Britain to triumph over our country.” Federalists, on the
other hand, told the voters that if they favored peace, they should elect Federal-
ists and thereby send a message to President Madison.* The language used by
both politcal parties was similar to that used in other states and tended to be
the rhetoric of extremes.

Both parties had organized auxiliary organizations to rally the faithful and get
out the vote. In 1809 and 1810 Republicans had established branches of the
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Tammany Society, a New York City-based political club, in Providence,
Warwick, Newport, and Bristol. Federalists countered by organizing branches
of the Washington Benevolent Society in Newport and Providence. (George
Channing of Newport later recalled that he had been “one of a company of
electioneering juveniles” who got the old and infirm to the polling stations.
Rhode Island was a state with well-organized political parties and auxihanes;
frequent elections required good party organization and committed members
like Channing.] Like the Republican party, the state’s Tammany societies
would be crippled by the war.

During the 1812 election campaign Congress imposed a ninety-day embargo
on trade in preparation for war. In Newport, Providence, and other ports, every
ship “that could be got in readiness” hurriedly left before the customs officers
could station vessels to prevent their escape.®* The new commercial embargo,
combined with the threat of war, led to the reelection of Governor Jones and

a Federalist majority in the legislature; and as long as the embargo and war
remained a reality, the Federalists would continue to win elections.

After the election the legislature sent a petition to Congress urging the repeal
of the embargo and opposing war. Opposition from Rhode Island, as well as
from most of the New England and Middle Atlantic states, failed to convince
President Madison and most Republicans in Congress, however, and war on
Great Britain was declared in June. Federalists protested the declaration of war
immediately. When news of the war reached Providence on 24 June, the town
went into “mourning” to signify its opposition: “At noon all bells in the meet-
ing houses . . . commenced tolling” and did not stop until sunset.” Shop owners
closed their stores, and flags on public buildings and ships were lowered to half-
mast. Enraged by such displays of antiwar feeling, prowar Republicans fired
cannons to drown out the chimes of the church bells. Some Republicans called
for more direct action: “The application of hempen collar and confiscation of
property” of the Federalist leaders would discourage any further demonstrations
of opposition to the war, said a Newport newspaper.* This was not a totally idle
threat; the offices of the Baltimore Federal Republican were attacked by a
Republican mob in July.

A month later local Republican supporters of the war were provoked by another
incident. Several Republicans who owned a small schooner were fitting it out
as a privateer when a band of men boarded it, overpowered the crew, took the
vessel into open water, and scuttled it.” No one was ever apprehended for the
sinking, and the owners of another vessel were threatened with similar destruc-
tion of their property if they converted it into a privateer. These incidents
reflected the widespread antiwar sentiment in Rhode Island and demonstrated
that Federalists were willing to resort to mob violence as long as they had
public opinion behind them.

Meanwhile, Rhode Islanders had another opportunity to express their senti-
ments about the war, In the summer of 1812 Congressmen Richard Jackson, Jr.,
and Elisha Potter ran for reelection as peace candidates. “Every vote” for Jack-
son and Potter “will be considered at Washington as a vote for Peace,” the
Federalist Providence Gazette argued, while Republicans denounced their
antiwar opponents as “the British faction in America.”'" During the campaign
Federalists concentrated on the peace issue and Republicans portrayed their
opponents as Tories. When voters went to the polls, they reelected Potter and
Jackson by a larger majority than in 1810, and they also increased the Federalist
majority in the state House of Representatives. Twenty-three of the state's
thirty-one towns gave majorities to Federalist candidates.
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“A Plan of Rose Island Containing 21 Acres
Survey. Jan. 2, 1809." by Lewis Peckham
RIHS Collection (RH1 X3 6619

Soon after these elections Rhode Islanders went to the polls again, this time to
vote for presidential electors (Rhode Island was one of the few states in the carly
nineteenth century that chose its presidential electors by direct vote). Members
of the Republican party rallied behind electors committed to President Madison.
When Federalists met at a national convention in New York City in September,
they decided to indirectly back the candidacy of dissident Republican DeWitt
Clinton, the mayor of New York City, who was challenging Madison’s reelection.

Following the national strategy, Federalists in Rhode Island supported local
electors committed to Clinton. In other states, including New York, New Jersey,
and Massachusetts, dissident Republicans and Federalists joined to form peace
coalitions behind Clinton. Federalists tried to appear nonpartisan in their appeals
to voters; one appeal, for example, declared that “we disclaim all party considera-
tions” and are “cordially uniting as the Advocates of Peace.”"' The peace coalition
in Rhode Island included Federalists, Quakers, and dissident rank-and-file Repub-
licans, but the state’s Federalists appear to have been less successful than their
colleagues in New York, New Jersey, and Massachusetts in enlisting local Repub-
lican party leaders.”

The arguments used by local party members on both sides did not differ markedly
from the rhetoric used in New York, New Jersey, or elsewhere in New England.
Federalists, under the guise of Friends of Peace, supported Clinton as the only
hope for ending the war and saving the nation from Madison’s blunder. Republi-
cans, recognizing the strong antiwar sentiment in the state, argued that Madison
had opted for war because there was no alternative, and wrapping themselves in
the Revolutionary War legacy, they tried to stir up Anglophobia. When the results
were counted, Clinton electors carried the race in Rhode Island, with only six
towns voting in favor of Madison. Strong support for Madison in the South and
Pennsylvania, however, led to the president’s reelection.

Discouraged by the string of Federalist victories in Rhode Island, local Republi-
cans decided not to challenge Governor Jones in 1813, Running on the slogan of
“Peace and Free Trade,” Jones won his third term without opposition. Federalists
also won all state offices and retained sizable majorities in both the April and
August legislative races. In 1814, running against Republican James Fenner,
Jones won his fourth term with 77 percent of the vote. That summer, buoyed

by Republican gains elsewhere in the nation, Rhode Island Republicans made a
strong effort to unseat the state’s Federalist congressmen, bt the voters reelected
the incumbents and returned a majority of Federalists in the state House of Rep-
resentatives. As long as the war lasted, Republicans had no hope of overcoming
the Federalists. The swift decline of Republicanism in Rhode Island during this
time reflected the widespread opposition in the state to “Mr. Madison's War.”

Republicans also watched helplessly while some of their fellow citizens traded
with the enemy. The British naval presence in Long Island Sound provided hoth
a threat and an opportunity. Some Rhode Islanders saw the proximity of the British
as a chance to make up for some of the losses caused by the war. Commerce with
the British “had for sometime been suspected,” reported Providence customs
collector Thomas Coles early in 1814, “but I had no idea of its being so extensive
until a few weeks ago.”"" During that time both Coles and Newport customs
collector William Ellery succeeded in capturing several vessels from Providence
and Newport that were trading with the British. When it appeared that James
Currie, master of the Hunter, planned to inform on the smugglers, the British
captured his ship and held him prisoner “to prevent his giving evidence against
the traitors.”**



27 RHODE ISLAND AND THE WAR OF 1812

Because of their exposed position, the residents of Block Island declared their
neutrality in the war. British vessels stopped at the island for water, cartle,
sheep, poultry, and other supplies. Customs officers checked ships trading
with Block Island to prevent the smuggling, but they could not stop the illegal
trade from the island or from any other Rhode Island ports. Even when alleged
violators were caught, it was difficult to get them convicted and jailed. Rhode
Islanders not only traded with British ships off the New England coast; they
also carried on a lucrative trade with Canada, and it continued unabated for
the duration of the war.”®

Another manifestation of antiwar sentiment was provided by Governor

Jones and the General Assembly. Soon after the declaration of war, President
Madison requested that the states call out their militias for national service,
but Jones (like the Federalist governors of Massachusetts and Connecticut)
refused the request. The legislature strongly approved of the governor’s refusal
“to comply with the unconstitutional requisition” to draft the state militia

to serve with the regular army in the invasion of Canada." The Federalist
majority also opposed any alliance with Napoleon against the British,

because party members in Rhode Island and elsewhere in the country
sympathized with the British struggle against the French dictator.

Jones repeatedly expressed his distaste for the war. In his June 1813 message
to the legislature, the governor argued that “neither honour or profit can
rationally be expected” from a continuation of the war.'” He asked President
Madison to negotiate an armistice with the British, but the Madison adminis-
tration ignored such appeals. In November, Jones drafted a Thanksgiving Day
message that urged the president and the public to repent “for all their per-
sonal and national sins.”'* This proposal enraged Republicans, who wondered
if the British should not show a little repentance for the evils they had perpe-
trated, such as the “horrid murders and barbarities committed in India and
Ireland, and in our own country.”"” The Thanksgiving Day debate of 1813 was
typical of the fast-day controversies throughout New England during the war,
Even “if the peppery Republicans of Rhode Island settled no moral issues in
their fast-day controversy,” as one historian puts it, both they and the Federal-
ists hoped to achieve salvation at the ballot box, if not in heaven.

Governor Jones gave the Republicans further reason for anger in February 1814,
when he urged the General Assembly to resist unconstitutiénal and oppressive
laws. The Federalist-controlled legislature did not need any prodding; it voted
against assuming the state’s share of the federal tax to finance the war, reject-
ing an arrangement that “would release the general government from the
odium of collecting the tax which their own mad policy has brought upon

the country.”” Further, when news reached Rhode Island of Napoleon's defeat
in 1814 by allied European armies, the governor expressed his jubilation and
hoped that this event would convince the president to end the war. Publicly,
Republicans could not understand why Federalists throughout the nation
rejoiced at a British victory, and the reaction just confirmed their view that
the Federalists were the Tories of 1812,

Despite its opposition to the war, the state government was necessarnly forced
to prepare in case of a British attack. After the war began, the federal govern-
ment, expecting the state militia to provide protection, removed most of the
regular troops stationed in Rhode Island. Appeals by Jones to President Madi-
son to return the federal troops were ignored, and the governor hesitated to use
militia troops to man Fort Adams and Fort Wolcott.
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When three British warships appeared off the entrance to Newport's harbor,
local residents panicked, but the British did not attack. Several months later,

in April 1813, a British squadron stationed near Block Island began cruising off
Newport, and the inhabitants of the town panicked once again. Now the state
distributed arms and ammunition to the militia, Governor Jones sent additional
men to man Fort Adams, and citizens organized nightly patrols to watch for an
invading force. Banks in Newport sent their deposits to interior towns for safety,
and local people entrusted their valuables to friends and relatives.

Although Newport was never the object of direct British attack, Narragansett
Bay was the site of several ship bumings by the British. One naval officer, the
captain of the U.S. revenue cutter Vigilant, stationed at Newport, decided to
retaliate, and in October 1813 he and his crew of Newport volunteers went after
the Canadian privateer Dart. The Rhode Islanders boarded the privateer after a
five-hour chase, and in the ensuing battle one of them was wounded and a British
officer killed. Then the Rhode Islanders took the prize back to Newport.™

Few others were willing to emulate the Newport volunteers, and the encounter
proved to be an 1solated incident. Most Rhode Islanders were less concerned
with privateering than with defending the state from British attack. Some,

like Newport customs collector William Ellery, did not believe that such an
attack was likely because of the extensive illegal trade being carried on with
the British.* By the summer of 1814, however, most Rhode Islanders were less
sure of British intentions, and citizens of Newport, Warren, and Providence
appealed to the Assembly to provide for the defense of their communities.

In response to these appeals, Governor Jones reached an agreement with the
Madison administration for raising a force of 550 volunteers. This state corps
would serve under federal control, but the men would at no time leave the state,
and the officers would be appointed by the governor. To create this force, the
state offered a bounty to volunteers, but by September 1814 only 150 men had
been recruited.”

Meanwhile, Jones was alarmed by the British burning of Washington and a British
assault on Stonington, Connecticut, in the summer of 1814. The governor called the
legislature into special session in September to discuss the perceived emergency,
and he ordered five companies of militia to assist in the defense of Stonington.

In addition, he called out four companies of militia to defen&d Newport.**

Citizens of Providence decided not to wait until Rhode Island could raise a state
corps. With the British attack on Washington in August 1814, the town's con-
cern for its security increased considerably, and inhabitants formed a committee
of defense to raise funds and provide volunteers for the construction of fortifica-
tions. This committee divided Providence into seven military districts, each of
which recruited men to volunteer their labor while others kept watch in case the
British appeared. Men of all sorts—lawyers, Brown University students, masons,
Irish-Americans, African-Americans, men from surrounding towns—took up the
pickax, the shovel, and the wheelbarrow. The erection of Fort William Henry at
Field’s Point was a result of their work. Similar preparations were made around
Newport; among these, 150 men of the Artillery Company of Newport occupied
Fort Green as part of the town's line of defense in case the British attacked ™

There were legitimate reasons for the Rhode Islanders’ concerns. The British
were blockading the American coast, and during the summer of 1814 Admiral
Sir Henry Hotham, commander of the blockading squadron off New England,
was ordered to stop the coastal trade and burn coastal towns. Events at




29 RHODE ISLAND AND THE WAR OF 1812

Perrv’s Victary on La Lithograph Stonington, Connecticut, suggested that Rhode Island could be next. British
n.¢ » by W, H, Powell
Perry Shifting His F 1813 Published
by Kurz &) Allison, Chicago. RIHS ;
Collection (RHi X3 4298) information about defenses from New Englanders. The British in fact planned

Dased on a pu

naval officers received instructions to gather intelligence, and some, such as
g,

Captain Sir Philip Carteret Silvester of the Pomone, succeeded in obtaining

to invade Rhode Island in September, but their military plans changed and the
projected invasion never took place

By the fall of 1814 the fear of an imminent British assault had declined, and
Rhode Islanders turned their attention to the question of peace. The lack of
progress in the peace negotiations exasperated Governor Junes and the General
Assembly. In November the legislature approved sending delegates to the Hartford
Convention, a meeting of the antiwar New England states. Connecticut  and
Massachusetts sent official representatives to the convention also, and a few
unofficial delegates came from Vermont and New Hampshire. The Rhode Island
legislature and Governor Jones probably expected the mecting to draft a statement
calling for peace and promoting regional defense in case the British rejected peace
and sought to expand their military operations against New England. Rhode
Island’s convention delegates were state Supreme Court chief justice Daniel
Lyman and (in the words of one account| three “middle range politicians of no
great distinction,” all of whom were considered moderates.”™ Republicans in Rhode
Island and elsewhere expected the convention to vote for secession, and they
attacked the meeting as a threat to the Union. But the Hartford Convention
instead recommended several relatively moderate constitutional amendments.
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These recommendations lost their relevance when word arrived in February
1815 of the signing of the Treaty of Ghent, bringing the War of 1812 to an end.
Rhode Island took no action on the proposed amendments, because joyous
Rhode Islanders were too busy celebrating the end of the conflict to care about
what appeared a dead issue. Yet, though the war had ended, the bitter partisan-
ship it had engendered did not. When Rhode Islanders went to the polls in 1815,
the War of 1812 dominated state elections one last time. Republicans portrayed
the war as a successful crusade against British despotism. While Federalists
questioned the wisdom of the war and reminded voters of the Republican fail-
ure to conguer Canada and end impressment, their opponents saw the war as a
victory. Republicans were convinced 1t had won the United States the respect

of the world, preserved American national honor, and demonstrated that the
average citizen-soldiers of the American militia could defeat the tramned armies
of Europe. The war and its consequences reinforced the negative perceptions that
Republicans and Federalists had of each other, and thus the conflict ended as
divisively as it had begun.

Voters repudiated the war in 1815 by electing a Federalist majority in the
legislature and reelecting the governor. A year later 2 Republican tide swept
through New England and New York, but Rhode Island Federalists narrowly
retained control of the state. In 1817, however, the Republicans regained con-
trol, and the next two years saw the twilight of Federalism in Rhode Island.

Federalist domination of the state had been primarily a product of the Embargo
of 1807 and the War of 1812. Alienated by the economic problems created by the
embargo and the war, voters had abandoned the Republicans and voted Federalist.
The resurrection of Federalism was not unique to Rhode Island, but rather
paralleled developments in New Jersey, New York, Maryland, and elsewhere in
New England. The War of 1812 proved that foreign policy issues could motivate
voters and, if cleverly used, could have a significant impact on the politics of

the individual states.

Rhode Island Republicans who supported the war did so out of loyalty to the
Republican party leadership and a desire to redeem America’s national honor.
They tried to justify the war as the only option remaining that could preserve
the nation’s dignity; the British, they argued, had given Americans no alternative.
Local Republicans also saw the war as an opportunity to gain control of Canada
{although congquest of Canada was not the motive for the war). The ideology of
republicanism and the symbolism of the Revolution were used to justify the war,
appeal for public support, and discredit the opposition as the new Tories. While
their rhetoric was obviously intended to gain votes, the Republicans really
meant what they said; they could not understand why the Federalists would not
support the war and fight for their country.” Seeing the war as a struggle be-
tween American republicanism and British despotism, they were chagrined
when the Federalists rejoiced at the British victory over Napoleon. Although the
conflict ended in a stalemate, Republicans considered it a victory, one that
redeemed American honor, won the respect of Europe, proved the abilities of the
citizen-soldier, and demonstrated that a republic could indeed wage war.”

Despite the Republican rhetoric, no other war in American history produced
more open dissent than the War of 1812. The peace campaign in Rhode Island
between 1812 and 1815 was an outgrowth of Federalist opposition to the war,
which Federalists perceived as a partisan conflict—a war started by the Repub-
lican party for partisan ends and not to preserve American national interests.
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Because of their distrust of the Republicans, their hostility toward France, and
their sympathy for the British struggle against Napoleon, Federalists viewed
Madison’s foreign policy as pro-French and anti-British. Party members in
Rhode Island and in other parts of the nation perceived the war as immoral
and unjust. They articulated the right to dissent in America’s first declared
war after independence, an important legacy for the history of the peace
movement in the United States.

The inability of the Madison administration to conquer Canada and the failure
of the Treaty of Ghent to end impressment confirmed Federalist assumptions
about the futility of the war and demonstrated the bankruptcy of Republican
military and foreign policies. The Federalists had won the support of Rhode
Island’s electorate by their opposition to these policies, and they smugly ob-
served that they had been proven right about the economic and political ruin
brought by fifteen years of Republican rule. But with the end of the war they
failed to find any new issues to motivate the voters, and they lost control of
the state in the elections of 1817.

Although the Federalists were unable to retain power very long after the war,
they did leave a notable legacy: a society dedicated to the cause of peace. Efforts
to form a peace party in the state in 1812 were not much more than a political
ploy, since the Peace party and the state’s Federalist party were basically the
same organization. After the war, however, Quakers and Federalists (many were
both] who had opposed the conflict played an instrumental role in the creation
of the Rhode Island Peace Society in 1818. The organizers (including William
Jones and Moses Brown|) were encouraged by similar efforts in New York and
Massachusetts in the aftermath of the war. Almost immediately some Republi-
cans realized the connection between the Rhode Island Peace Society and the
Federalists and questioned the legitimacy and nonpartisanship of the new
¢ society. But despite the role played by prominent Federalists in the organization,
- the Rhode Island Peace Society was not a political extension of the Federalists;
it was a coalition of Quakers, Federalists, and others who had a sincere desire to
end war. The impetus of the society was a legacy of the War of 1812 and the
Napoleonic Wars in Europe, an impetus that also produced the American Peace
Society in 1828 and generated the longest continuous reform movement in
American history,*
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